Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-17-2008

Carpenter v. Turrell Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35576

INTRODUCTION

In April of 2007, defendant and appellant, Tim Turrell, believing that he was acting in a representative capacity on behalf of his father's estate, sold two modular buildings that had been sitting unused and unattended on his parents' property for almost four years. Mr. Turrell's father, Herbert Turrell, who died several years before, was a collector of what his wife of sixty years, Marian, called junk. Their property was littered with old cars, trucks, parts, scrap iron, several other moveable buildings and mountains of other materials. Due to his mother's deteriorating health and inability to see, Tim Turrell was tasked with clearing the property so that the property could be sold to fund nursing home care. The two modular buildings were just a portion of the junk Mr. Turrell needed to clear from the property to make it saleable. The sale for a price of \$3,500 saved the Turrell family trust from the expense of hauling them off to the dump.

Months after the sale of the buildings, plaintiff and respondent, James C. Carpenter ("Carpenter"), made claim that the buildings were his, that he had stored them on the Turrell property based on an oral agreement with Herbert and that Mr. Turrell owed him \$27,000, the value he place on the buildings. When Mr. Turrell responded that his claim was premised on an oral agreement with his father for which there was no corroborating evidence and thus barred by Idaho's Dead Man's Statute (IC § 9-202(3)) (Exhibit G), Carpenter filed a complaint in which he attempted an end-round that statutory bar by alleging that he had stored the buildings with the permission of Marian Turrell (R 9). At trial, Carpenter conceded the truth – that he had had no

dealings whatsoever with Marian Turrell concerning storage of the buildings and that his arrangement had been negotiated exclusively with Marian's deceased husband (Tr 65, L 1).

Following a one-day trial and over objection based on IC § 9-202(3), the trial court found that Carpenter had entered into an oral, gratuitous bailment contract with Herbert Turrell (R 71). Even though Carpenter had no independent evidence of his arrangement with Herbert, the trial court held that the Dead Man's Statute did not prevent Carpenter from proving his ownership of the buildings based solely on his own, uncorroborated testimony. The trial court also found that the Dead Man's Statute had no application to the claim before it since (1) no formal probate proceedings had been filed and (2), in any event, Tim Turrell was not being sued in his representative capacity. The trial court accordingly held that whether or not Tim Turrell knew of Carpenter's interest in the buildings at the time they were sold he was guilty of conversion.

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. In General. In 1989, Herbert and Marian Turrell moved to a 5-acre parcel on West Yukon Road in Post Falls, Idaho (Tr 116, L 6). They had four adult sons, whose names in descending order of age are Terry, Tim, Tom and Tracy. Only Tim and Tracy lived locally.

Both Terry and Tom lived hundreds of miles away in Seattle and Salt Lake City, respectively (Tr 104, L 5).

Herbert was a collector and trader. Over the course of many years, Herbert acquired numerous old cars and trucks, scrap metal, salvaged wood and out buildings that he stored on his property. Carpenter, who had known Herbert for 20 years and lived only a quarter mile away (Tr

18, L 18, 23) knew that Herbert bought, sold and traded (sometimes without cash being involved) over the years and had himself done deals with Herbert (Tr 59, L 9-24). At the time of Herbert's death, approximately 70 vehicles were located on the property (Tr 134, L 15).

Marian was not involved in Herbert's collection activities. Herbert made it plain to her long before that it was none of her business (Tr 107, L 19). She did, however, believe that everything in the yard belonged to her husband (Tr 109, L 10). Although Herbert had mentioned some buildings that he wanted to take to one of his son's property, Marian never saw the buildings (Tr 113, L 7).

In 1993, Herbert and Marian Turrell had the foresight to complete a modern estate plan. They executed a living trust, pour over wills, registered their trust with Kootenai County, and deeded their real and personal property to the trust (Exhibits H through N). Under the terms of the trust, Herbert and Marian were the initial trustees. On the death of the first spouse, the survivor would remain as the sole trustee and the personal representative of the deceased spouse's estate. Upon the death of the survivor or the survivor's incapacity, the responsibilities for managing the trust and serving as the personal representative would devolve to the sons starting with the oldest, Terry. Tim Turrell was next in line if Terry was unwilling or unable to assume the role of successor trustee.

By 2003, the health of both Herbert and Marian was such that Tim Turrell took had taken over responsibility for the managing the trust's finances. Herbert suffered from Parkinson's and trembled too much to do paperwork (Tr 116, L 11). Marian was losing her vision and was

legally blind (Tr 100, L 3, 15; 116, L 11). Tim took over at Terry's request because Terry lived in Seattle and was too far away for ongoing involvement (Tr 117, L 8, 22).

B. The Alleged Bailment Contract. Carpenter testified that he bought the buildings in question in May of 2003 for \$20,000, explaining that he had nothing to verify that claim since he paid in cash (Tr 16, L 24; 51, L 24). He testified that he planned in storing them on his own property, but that he found that he would have to remove his gates in order to do so (Tr 29, L 1). Over objection based on IC § 9-202(3), Carpenter was then permitted to testify that Herbert Turrell, noticing his plight, said "just bring them up to my house and leave them as long as you'd like" (Tr 29, L 1). Carpenter did so – leaving the buildings on the Turrell property for the next three and a half years.

Carpenter had no evidence whatsoever to corroborate his supposed arrangement with Herbert. Even his friend, David Bouder, who had helped to move the buildings on to the Turrell property and who had been a friend of Herbert for 30 years knew absolutely nothing about the arrangement Carpenter claimed (Tr 91, L 23).

Carpenter knew that there was lots of personal property scattered all over the Turrell acreage (Tr 53, L 6) and knew that Herbert was in ill health, suffering from Parkinson's (Tr 52, L 17; 54, L 12). Yet he did nothing to document his ownership of the buildings. He did not get anything signed by Herbert, did not put his name on the buildings, did not put a for sale sign on the buildings with his telephone number and did not even post the buildings with a copy of his alleged bill of sale (Tr 54, L 17, 23; 55, L 13). Carpenter did not claim anyone other than

Herbert was aware of their arrangement and conceded that no one looking at the buildings would have any way of knowing he owned them (Tr 55, L 8).

C. <u>Subsequent Events</u>. In 2003, Carpenter left his supposedly valuable buildings with someone he knew was in ill health without any way of proving that he had not sold or traded the buildings to Herbert. His failure to protect himself, however, got worse. In December of 2003, less than 7 months after he moved the buildings on the Turrell property, Herbert had a massive stroke that required him to be placed in a nursing home. Carpenter knew about the stroke (Tr 55, L 18; 56, L 1), yet, he still did nothing to make sure the family or anyone else looking at the buildings would know they were his (Tr 56, L 9; 57, L 14). He did not mark the buildings, did not ask Marian to sign anything, and did not even send Marian anything so that she would not be confused as to who owned the buildings (Tr 57, L 22; 58, L 1).

For the remainder of Herbert's life, Carpenter did nothing to distinguish his buildings from the mountain of other items Herbert had stored on his property (Tr 58, L 10). Carpenter conceded again that while Herbert, the only other witness to his claimed bailment contract lay in a nursing home, no one looking at the buildings would know he had or claimed any interest therein (Tr 59, L 6). By then, Carpenter had moved from his nearby home and no longer lived near the Turrells (Tr 62, L 7).

Even after Herbert died on January 9, 2005, Carpenter did nothing to document his ownership (Tr 62, L 17). Knowing that Tim Turrell was trying to clear his parents' property to make it saleable Carpenter made no effort in the following 2 years to remove the buildings, to

insure the Turrell family agreed the buildings were his, or to verify leaving the buildings where they were was still acceptable (Tr 66, L24; 62, L13).

D. The Sale. In November of 2006, almost 2 years after his father died, Tim Turrell was still in the process of clearing his parents' property of the junk his father had collected. He considered the buildings Carpenter later claimed no differently (Tr 136, L 5; 150, L 4). They were filled with papers, broken furniture, and bits of particle board (Tr 140, L 3).

Mr. Turrell, believing he was acting as the successor trustee (Tr 141, L 22), thought the buildings would cost more to haul away than they were worth (Tr 161, L 20). He would have given them away to someone who would remove them from the property (Tr 162, L 11). However, two individuals who were looking at some of the vehicles Tim Turrell was trying to sell on behalf of the trust offered him \$1,750 for each of the buildings (Tr 161, L 17 – 163, L 3). Mr. Turrell accepted the offers and deposited the money from the sales in the trust's bank account, not keeping a penny for himself (Tr 141, L 8, 19).

Five months later, Carpenter called Tim Turrell and demanded that he be paid \$27,000 (Tr 127, L 5).

E. <u>Disputed Testimony</u>. Carpenter claimed that a year or so after Herbert's death and approximately a year before the buildings were sold Tim Turrell telephoned him to give him the name of a potential buyer for one of the buildings (Tr 45, L8). Though he claimed he told Tim Turrell what he wanted for the buildings in that conversation, Carpenter admitted he did not

tell Tim the buildings were his and conceded that Tim never said he understood Carpenter owned the buildings (Tr 68, L 3, 19).

Tim Turrell denied that conversation ever took place (Tr 150, L 22-151, L 4). Instead, he testified that in March of 2005 his mother was assaulted on her property (Tr 124, L 3). Several months later his nephew chased two people off of the property who claimed to be looking at the buildings and mentioned Carpenter. Tim Turrell, because he was trying to clean up the property that even Carpenter described as a junkyard (Tr 70, L16), located Carpenter's cell phone number in his father's records. He called and left a message on his voice mail to please call if he had any interest or knowledge about the buildings (Tr 153, L 8). Carpenter never returned the call (Tr 154, L 24).

Because of his mother's deteriorating health, Tim and his brothers were in a hurry to clean the property in order to sell if to fund nursing care (Tr 154, L 1). Had Carpenter called to claim he owned the buildings, Tim Turrell naturally would have demanded that Carpenter remove them from the property to avoid the cost of hauling them away (Tr 155, L 11). Since the buildings were made of vinyl and had asbestos siding, Tim was not sure what to do with the buildings (Tr 150, L 8), so the buildings sat for almost another year until Tim received unsolicited offers to buy them.

Despite the total absence of logic that Tim Turrell would sell property he knew was not his father's for pennies on the dollar and subject himself (and perhaps his mother) to this type of claim when he could have resolved his quandary with the buildings by simply demanding Carpenter remove them from the property at his own expense, the trial court accepted Carpenter's version of his conversation with Tim Turrell (R 70).

SUMMARY OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Carpenter filed his complaint in August of 2007 naming Tim Turrell and his wife as the only defendants (R 8). The complaint contained a single cause of action that alleged that Tim Turrell had converted his buildings.

Following trial, and over defense objection based on IC § 9-202(3), the trial court found that:

- 1. Carpenter had a gratuitous bailment relationship with Herbert and Marian Turrell despite the fact Carpenter admitted that he had had no communications whatsoever with Marian concerning ownership of the buildings or his free storage thereof (R 71).
- 2. Marian Turrell and her agent, Tim Turrell, were grossly negligent in selling the buildings (R 72).
- 3. IC § 9-202(3) was "not relevant" because Carpenter was not making a claim against "Marianne Turrell or the Estate of Herbert Turrell" (R 72).
- Tim Turrell assumed dominion and control of the buildings and
 permanently deprived Carpenter of possession of the buildings by selling them to third parties (R
 72).
- 5. Whether Tim Turrell was aware of Carpenter's ownership of the buildings and whether Carpenter ever demanded possession be returned were not relevant (R 72-73.

Te trial court then concluded that the buildings were worth \$18,000 and ordered judgment for Carpenter.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Is Idaho's Dead Man's Statute applicable when no formal probate proceeding is pending?
- 2. Is Idaho's Dead Man's Statute applicable in claims against personal representatives of a decedent other than executors and administrators?
- 3. Can application of Idaho's Dead Man's Statute be avoided simply by claiming the personal representative is being sued in his individual capacity?
- 4. Can a claimant who could not recover possession of personal property against a decedent's estate because of the application of Idaho's Dead Man's Statute nevertheless recover possession of that property from a decedent's heirs after the decedent's estate is settled?
- 5. Was the trial court's finding of "gross negligence" permitted by the pleadings or supported by the evidence?
- 6. Was judgment properly entered against Peggy Turrell in the complete absence of any claim or evidence that she was involved in the conversion alleged?

ARGUMENT

A. <u>Idaho's Dead Man's Statute</u>. This appeal presents issues concerning the application of IC § 9-202(3) which have never been addressed by this Court - whether Idaho's "Dead Man's Statute" applies to trustees under a living trust and whether that statute applies

when no formal probate is initiated. The trial court concluded that the protection of § 9-202(3) was available only to personal representatives formally appointed by a court.

IC § 9-202(3) (or rather its predecessor) was adopted in the 1800s to prevent fraudulent claims against the estate of a deceased person who was no longer around to defend himself. Its provisions are "positive, plain and mandatory" (Johnson v. Flatness, 70 Idaho 37, 42 (1949)). Section 9-202(3)¹ "excludes evidence ... in an action against the personal representative of a deceased person" (Kolouch v. First Security Bank of Idaho, 128 Idaho 186, 194 (App. 1996)) "upon a claim or demand against the estate ... arising from "any communication or agreement not in writing, occurring before the death of such deceased person" (9-202(3)).

The purpose of the Dead Man's Statute is "to prevent parties from giving self-serving testimony about conversations or transactions with the deceased" that cannot be contradicted (Estate of Miller, 134 Wn. App. 885, 890 (2006)). While extrinsic evidence and the testimony of disinterested witnesses to the conversations or events giving rise to the claim can be presented, the interested party to the "communication or agreement" is not permitted absence such testimony to testify as to what the decedent said or promised since to do so would allow opportunistic claimants to make uncorroborated and fraudulent claims against the estate of someone who can no longer defend himself.

IC § 9-202(3) thus precludes testimony by a party in interest who does not have independent verification or proof from testifying in an action against a decedent's "executor or administrator" as to any claim against the estate based on any agreement or communication with

¹ Section 9-202(3) is repeated and affirmed in IRE 601(b).

the decedent. The language of § 9-202(3) was enacted long before the term "personal representative" was used to describe the function of one acting on behalf of a decedent's estate, the adoption of small estate administration procedures in which no personal representative is formally appointed (IC § 15-3-1201 et seq.) or the common use of living trusts to avoid probate all together.

The rationale behind § 9-202(3) exists regardless of the formal appointment of an executor or administrator to wind up a decedent's estate and affairs. A claim based on an oral agreement where the only two witnesses are the plaintiff and the decedent should be treated no differently in cases where the personal representative is formally appointed, the estate is so small the law deems it can be distributed without court supervision, or the decedent had the foresight to put his assets in trust.

Treating personal representatives of living trusts or small estates differently than one appointed in a formal probate proceeding also makes no sense. A trustee of a living trust, whose obligation is to wind up a decedent's affairs and distribute the assets of the trust to its beneficiaries, could find himself being held personally liable to third parties who would not have been permitted to testify as to some secret deal or arrangement he had with the decedent long after the trustee has discharged his duties. For example, a trustee who takes office upon the death of the settlor has a fiduciary obligation to the beneficiaries of the trust to comply with the terms of the trust agreement. If those terms requires the trust estate to be liquidated and distributed to the beneficiaries and the trustee does so, he could find himself being personally sued for conversion years after he is has discharged his responsibilities by someone claiming

without any corroborating evidence that some asset the trustee sold based on the good faith belief it was part of the trust estate that he was the true owner. If that were permitted, this Court would be sending a signal to all successor trustees of living trusts that the office should be declined since they could be personally sued for the tort of conversion until the statute of limitations expires. Likewise, heirs who may want to avoid the expense of going to court by employing the statutorily authorized small estates administration procedures should also be warned not to bother since they too could be personally liable for years for conversion based on fraudulent claims of ownership unless the estate is formally probated.

This Court should accordingly hold that the legislative intent to protect a decedent's estate from uncorroborated claims whether or not the estate is subject to a formal probate and whether or not the personal trustee is a successor trustee of an estate planning trust.

B. <u>Tim Turrell Was A Personal Representative</u>. The trial court dismissed Tim Turrell's claim that he was acting as the personal representative of his father's estate when he sold the buildings (R 56). Its rational for doing so was that Tim Turrell was (1) not the personal representative in that Marian and Terry were named before him and (2) Tim had not been appointed by the court in a formal probate proceeding (R 55-56). Neither finding is supported by law or evidence.

First, the evidence was undisputed that Marian and Terry were either incapable or declined to accept the role of personal representative either of Herbert's estate of as successor trustee of the family trust. Marian was elderly, in poor health and virtually blind. Terry Turrell lived hundreds of miles away in Seattle. Tim accordingly took over what would otherwise have

been Marian's and Terry's roles (Tr 106, L 18; 117, L 22) and no evidence was offered to the contrary.

Second, no formal appointment from a court is necessary to confirm someone as a successor trustee to a living trust and a personal representative need not be appointed in small estates (or where the sole beneficiary is the surviving spouse) in order to wind up the affairs of a decedent's estate. The successor trustee or the heirs who assume responsibility for distributing the assets of the decedent as provided by law are still personal representatives regardless of whether a court is involved.

The trial court thus labeled Tim Turrell as an agent for his mother instead of a personal representative of his father's estate. In doing so, the trial court erroneously assumed that those roles were mutually exclusive. They are not. Tim Turrell could still be acting on behalf of his mother in clearing the property to make it saleable and at the same time be a personal representative of his father's estate in disposing of his assets.

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