### UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-15-2008

# Carpenter v. Turrell Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35576

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

Upon being confronted by Carpenter as to the status/sale of the buildings, Turrell never indicated that he was acting as a Personal Representative of the Estate of Herbert Turrell and/or Trustee of the Trust.

The Trust was never registered with the Kootenai County District Court nor was Turrell's status as Successor Trustee of the Trust registered in any Court in Idaho. (Tr 178, L 14-19).

The record does not reflect any evidence other than Turrell's own self serving statements that he was acting a Personal Representative of the Estate of Herbert Turrell or that a formal probate of the Herbert Turrell had been filed either prior to or at the time of sale of the buildings. (Tr 166, L 14-15).

Turrell sold the buildings to Leonard Turpin and Dan Seldon personally and executed sale receipts reflecting the sale of the buildings in Turrell's name only and not in his alleged capacity as either a Personal Representative of Herbert Turrell's estate or as Successor Trustee of the Living Trust. (Exhibits 4 and 5).

Although Turrell was sure that all property located on Herbert Turrell's property was his father's, Turrell did acknowledge that his father stored some personal property as a friends residence in Rathdrum, Idaho. Like Carpenter herein, Herbert Turrell was also involved in a gratuitous bailment situation. (Tr 167, L 21-23; Tr 171, L 16-20).

Notwithstanding the specific reasons Turrell tendered to the Trial Court regarding the conversion of Carpenter's buildings, Turrell acknowledged that not all the items stored on his father's property has been sold or removed (Tr 148, L 2-14) and Marianne is still residing at the home. (Tr 116, L 8-9).

#### C. Appellant's Issues Presented on Appeal

Turrell raises six issues on appeal which are summarized as follows:

1. Issues 1 through 4 (Opening Brief page 9) can be summarized as follows: Whether Idaho's Dead Man Statute is applicable to Carpenter's claim of conversion against Turrell in the absence of any formal probate proceeding pending, or in the absence of Turrell formally documenting his status as Personal Representative or in the absence Turrell formally documenting his status Successor Trustee of the Trust at the time that he converted Carpenter's buildings to his own use and sold the same.

2. Whether the Trial Court's finding of gross negligence is supported by the

evidence is a germane or relevant issue as it applies to the Trial Court's finding that Turrell was culpable of conversion.

3. Whether Judgment was properly entered against Peggy Turrell, spouse of Turrell in light of the evidence that Turrell was personally involved in the conversion of Carpenter's buildings and failed to substantiate the status of the proceeds of the sale of said buildings.

#### 11.

#### ADDITIONAL ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

In addition to the issues raised by Turrell in his Opening Brief on Page 9, Carpenter contends that the following issue is germane:

1. Whether Carpenter is entitled to an award of attorney's fees on appeal since Turrell arguments simply request the Court to re weigh and/or recharacterize substantial competent evidence which substantiate as to the inapplicability of the Dead Man's Statute to the instant case. (I.C. §12-121, IAR 41).

#### 111.

# ARGUMENT A. STANDARD OF REVIEW APPLICABLE BEFORE THIS COURT

The standard of review applicable to this appeal has been summarized by the Court as follows:

When a case has been tried to the Court without a jury, we will not disturb the Trial Court's Findings of Fact unless they are clearly erroneous. Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a); In Re *Williamson*, 135 Idaho 452, 454,(2001); *Rueth vs. State*, 103 Idaho 74, 77 (1982). In determining whether a finding is clearly erroneous, this Court

does not weigh the evidence or assess the credibility of witnesses as to the Trial Court. *Williamson*, supra; *Kootenai Electrical Coop., Inc. vs. Washington Power Co.*, 127 Idaho 432, 434-35(1995). "The Trial Court's Findings and Conclusions which are based on substantial although conflicting evidence will not be disturbed on appeal." *Sun Valley Shamrock Resources, Inc. vs. Travelers Leasing Corp.*, 118 Idaho 116, 118 (1990). "The Trial Court's Findings of Fact will be liberally construed in favor of the judgment entered." Id. With respect to the Trial Court's Conclusions of Law, we exercise free review *Erickson vs. Flynn*, 138 Idaho 430 (Id. App 2002).

#### **B. IDAHO DEAD MAN'S STATUTE IS NOT APPLICABLE**

Turrell's appeal primarily focuses on whether Idaho's Dead Man's Statute (IC§9-202(3)) applies to a Trust *vis a vis* Turrell's uncorroborated and unverified testimony that at all times pertinent to his possession and sale of Carpenter's buildings, he perceived himself as a Successor Trustee of the Trust.

The overwhelming evidence supports the finding of the Trial Court that Turrell was not a Successor Trustee at the time he converted Carpenter's buildings. The record fails to reflect an initial registration of the Trust or an Amended Registration designating Turrell as Successor Trustee of the Trust as required by Idaho Code §15-7-101 *et. seq.* The sales receipts provided to Leonard Turpin and Dan Seldon, purchasers of Carpendter's buildings, reflect that Turrell was acting in his personal capacity. (See Exhibits 4 and 5).

Turrell objected to any testimony proffered by Carpenter relating to any conversation with Herbert Turrell regarding the storage of the buildings on Herbert Turrell's property. The Trial Court concluded that "Idaho Code §9-202(3) is not relevant because the Estate of Herbert Turrell is not a party or a named Defendant in this matter." (R, page 72). The Trial Court did not conclude that ". . . protection of Idaho Code §9-202(3) was available only to Personal Representatives formally appointed by

the Court." (Opening Brief page 10). Turrell's objection is not a barr to Carpenter's claim. There is no evidence that the Estate of Herbert Turrell was formally or informally probated or involved in the conversion of Carpenter's buildings. There was no factual basis to include the Estate of Herbert Turrell as a party Defendant herein.

Regarding the applicability of the Dead Man's Statute, Turrell does acknowledge that

"... extrinsic evidence and the testimony of disinterested witnesses to the conversations or events giving rise to the claim can be presented, the interested party to the 'communication or agreement' is not permitted absence such testimony to testify as to what the decedent said or promised since to do so would allow opportunistic claims to make uncorroborated and fraudulent claims against the estate of someone who can no longer defend himself." (Opening Brief page 10).

A disinterested witness, Dave Bouder, corroborated Carpenter's testimony that Herbert Turrell acquiesced, did not object to and observed Carpenter moving two buildings on to Herbert Turrell's property to store the same. (P 89, L 11-16; P 91, L15-22).

Turrell's appeal suggests that the Dead Man's Statute is a claims barr statute rather than an evidentiary barr statute. In this regard he had little choice. Turrell acknowledged that he converted and sold Carpenter's buildings. Turrell felt his only defense to Carpenter's claim was to suppress any conversation between Carpenter and Herbert Turrell regarding the storage of said buildings. In light of the gratuitous bailment situation, (R 71), Carpenter did not need proffer any hearsay testimony from Herbert Turrell. As corroborated by Bouder, the facts are clear and uncontroverted. Carpenter purchased the buildings and moved them on Herbert Turrell's property on two separate occasions in the presence and without objection of Herbert Turrell.

Rather than moving to dismiss Carpenter's Complaint for failure to join an indispensable third party or in the alternative joining the Estate of Herbert Turrell and or the Trust as a third party defendant, Turrell chose to personally defend this litigation. Turrell's status in this litigation is inconsistent with his attempt to hide behind guise of a Trustee in an attempt to barr Carpenter's claim.

Turrell fails to recognize statutory differences involved in probating an estate and the formalities required in the registration of a Trust. In this regard Turrell misrepresents the facts as it relates to the rationale of Idaho Code §9-202(3) (See Opening Brief page 11). Even if it is determined that Turrell was acting as a Personal Representative or as Successor Trustee, the terms and conditions of the Trust was that Estate would vest in the surviving Grantor (Marianne Turrell). As such, since there was still a surviving Grantor, Turrell was not acting ". . . to wind up a decedent's estate and affairs." (Opening Brief page 11, Defendant's Exhibit "H"). Turrell consistently attempted to recite hypotheticals and other speculative arguments in his attempt to render Idaho Code §9-202(3) applicable. These attempts were unsuccessful before the Trial Court.

The facts do not provide a proper predicate for this Court to consider Turrell's request in this regard. The Estate of Herbert Turrell and the Trust are not parties to this action.

In the event the Court determines that the Dead Man's Statute did preclude Carpenter's testimony regarding any conversations he had with Herbert Turrell, such error is harmless. Substantial, competent and uncontroverted evidence exists that Carpenter stored the buildings on Herbert Turrell's property under a gratuitous bailment situation. Idaho Code §9-202(3) is irrelevant to this bailment status.

Nevertheless, Turrell insists that:

"This Court should according hold that the legislative intent to protect a decedent's estate from uncorroborated claims whether or not estate is subject to a formal probate and whether or not the Personal Trustee is a successor of an estate planning trust." (Opening Brief p 12).

#### C. TIM TURRELL WAS NOT A PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE.

Contrary to the requirements of Idaho Code §15-3-301 *et. seq* or Idaho Code §15-3-401 *et. seq*, Turrell insists that the Trial Court erred in dismissing his claim that

he was acting as a Personal Representative of the Estate of Herbert Turrell when he sold the buildings. Turrell argues that the Trial Court did not have any law or evidence supporting its conclusion that "Tim had not been appointed by the Court in a formal probate proceeding." (Opening Brief page 12).

The record is void of any evidence that the Estate of Herbert Turrell was either informally or formally probated or that Letters Testamentary were issued by the Court appointing Turrell as Personal Representative of the Estate of Herbert Turrell. The burden is on Turrell to substantiate such allegation. He did not. It is difficult to fathom what specific evidence Turrell refers to which would provide a basis for the Trial Court to determine that Turrell had been appointed by a Court ". . . in a formal probate proceeding."

Turrell merges and fails to distinguish the status of the Personal Representative of an estate *vis a vis* a Successor Trustee of a trust. In one instance he is asserting that he is a Personal Representative of the Estate of Herbert Turrell. In another instance he is asserting that he is the Successor Trustee of the Trust. Turrell's selfserving statement were not corroborated by any other testimony and/or formal documentation as required by Idaho Code. The Trial Court's finding that Tim Turrell was not a Personal Representative is based upon Turrell's failure to verify this unsubstantiated allegation.

Turrell has presented no authority to support his position that he personally had standing to barr any testimony pertaining to any conversation between Carpenter and Herbert Turrell pursuant to Idaho Code §9-202(3). Idaho Code §9-202(3) does not exonerate Turrell for the conversion of Carpenter's buildings.

#### D. THE REAL QUESTION IS WHO IS ATTEMPTING TO BACKDOOR THE DEAD MAN'S STATUTE

It is an ironic twist of logic that Turrell is claiming that Carpenter is attempting to "backdoor" the Dead Man's Statute by filing a cause of action against Turrell personally. (See Opening Brief page 13).

A review of Turrell's testimony is replete with his attempts to "backdoor" the application of the Dead Man's Statute. The record is void of any factual foundation which sustains the relevance of the statute to his objections and arguments. It is unknown exactly to what extent and how the Dead Man's Statute applies to Carpenter's claim. Turrell has argued that it is a claims barred statute in one instance and in other instances argues that it is an evidentiary/testimonial barr statute. Even the Trial Court had a difficult time parlaying Turrell's application of the Dead Man's Statute to the facts of this case.

Unfortunately, it is again necessary to respond to this issue by again reiterating that the evidence before the Trial Court directly contradicts Turrell's allegations. Turrell signed the sales receipts in his personal capacity. There was no informal or formal probate of Herbert Turrell's Estate. Turrell did not register his status as Successor Trustee of the Trust as contemplated by Idaho Code §15-7-101 *et. seq.* (Tr 118, L 12-15, Tr 156, L 21-23, Tr 178, L 14-19). A third party would not be able to verify either a probate of Herbert Turrell's Estate or the existence of a Family Trust. While Turrell's name appeared on his mother's bank account (Tr 107, L 1) so did his other brothers. (Tr 164, L 16-25, Tr 165, L 1-13).

Notwithstanding Turrell's self serving statements pertaining to his perceived status as either a Personal Representative or a Successor Trustee, the Trial Court concluded that Turrell acted individually when he took dominion and control of Carpenter's buildings and sold them to third parties.

In an effort to distract the Court and minimize his exposure, Turrell attempts to justify his behavior by alleging he was unaware of Carpenter's rights over the buildings. Such lack of knowledge as to who actually owns the buildings is irrelevant. Restatement of Torts (2<sup>nd</sup>) §222, 223, 224. *Wiseman vs. Schaffer*, 115 Idaho 537 (Ct. App 1989).

Turrell also attempts to assume facts not in evidence by extending the rationale

of the Dead Man's Statute defense to preclude Carpenter's attempts to recover the buildings from Herbert Turrell's Estate in the event that the buildings still existed. (Opening Brief page 14). This argument fails in that it is premised upon facts which are irrelevant and not applicable to the instant case. In the event that the buildings still existed then it is obvious Carpenter would have had to file the suit against the Estate of Herbert Turrell and/or against Marianne Turrell personally. In this instance different facts would obviously been presented to sustain Carpenter's burden. Such an analogy is inapposite.

Turrell cannot simply invoke the application of Idaho Code §9-202(3) by alleging, as an after thought, that he was unilaterally acting as a Personal Representative or Successor Trustee without any formal appointment confirming the same. (Opening Brief page 14). The *Kolouch* cited by Turrell (Opening Brief page 14) confirms a need for a formal appointment and to this extent is inapplicable to the instant case.

This is not a case where "... Carpenter ... successfully eluded the statute by suing Turrell as an individual." (Opening Brief page 14). This is a case where the Trial Court held that Turrell could not hide behind the Dead Man's Statute to barr Carpenter's conversations with Herbert Turrell pertaining to the buildings.

# E. WHETHER CARPENTER WAS ENTITLED TO IMMEDIATE POSSESSION OF THE BUILDINGS IS IRRELEVANT

Turrell argues that Carpenter was not entitled to immediate possession of the buildings and therefore his claim against Turrell must fail. (Opening Brief page 15). Turrell cites the *Lusar* case as authority for the requirement of "immediate possession." *Lusar* is significantly distinguishable from the case at hand. It dealt with a cause of action between a trucking company which as pledgor, pledged certain collateral to a secured party for a bond. The issue before the *Lusar* Court was whether the pledgor had the right to possession of the collateral at the time of demand and refusal of the

secured party to return the collateral.

Lusar did not deal with a gratuitous bailment situation as in the instant case. Additionally, Turrell was not acting as a bailee of the buildings at the time of his conversion and sale of the same. Turrell's motives in this regard are irrelevant. Carpenter's cause of action against Turrell was premised on Turrell being a tortfeasor, not a bailee.

Turrell has not cited any authority which would deny a bailor immediate possession of his property from the bailee in a gratuitous bailment situation. Even in the event that Turrell is able to cite authority to sustain his argument that Carpenter must show a right of "immediate possession" of bail property before the bailee can be culpable of conversion, Turrell lacks standing to raise this issue and his arguments in this regard fail. It is difficult to understand Turrell's logic that Carpenter would have to have a right of possession of the buildings superior to that of Turrell's prior to Turrell's personally converting and selling the same. Turrell simply had no rights of possession of Carpenter's buildings.

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